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WORK OF THE MILITARY-HISTORICAL INSTITUTIONS
AT THE TIME OF ESTABLISHING THE SOVIET
AUTHORITY IN UKRAINE

On the basis of the study, the author discloses the conditions in which the
military-museum establishments located on the territory of Ukraine were functioning.
The author presents statistical data on the quantitative indicators of military-museum
institutions that were at that time on the territory of Ukraine. According to archival
materials, certain events and life stories of public figures who were concerned with
the fate and preservation of the Ukrainian military-historical heritage were
reconstructed. The study found that a solid ideological dictate by the party and state
authorities seriously affected the content of all areas of the work of Ukrainian military
museums during the Soviet period.

Key words: military museum, regimental museum, museum affairs.

“ ... museums were no one’s business, and it was no wonder since
this period (1918-1928) for museum building in WPRA was the time of
silence ...” S. Polunin [1, p. 42].

Problem statement. The revolution (1917) not only predetermined
the course of cultural life in the former Russian Empire, but also
largely caused problems related to the preservation of the military-
historical heritage of the Ukrainian people. Despite the dramatic
course of revolutionary events, as well as the tragedy of the civil war
causing chaos and disorder, military museums fulfilled their direct
function — they helped to protect and preserve the invaluable heritage
of the military past.

In the first years of Soviet government, a number of decrees and
resolutions were adopted, on the basis of which tremendous cultural
and historical values were transferred to the subordination of the state.
The Decree of the Council of People’s Commissars “On freedom of
conscience, church and celigious communities” dated February 2,
1918, proclaimed all “property of the people” as a “national heritage”,
and the decree “On the confiscation of the property of the Russian
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emperor and members of the former Russian imperial house, deprived
of power” dated July 13, 1918 allowed to nationalize all without
exception property of the royal family. The Decree of the Council of
People’s Commissars “On the prohibition of the export and sale of
foreign items of special artistic and historical value” dated September 19,
1918 prohibited the export of the values specified therein outside the
country without the special permission of the Collegium on Museum
Affairs and the Protection of Art Monuments and Antiquities.

In the first months of October, the views of the country’s
leadership and a large part of the creative intelligentsia, as well as
museum experts, on the role and importance of the museum in the life
of society have so far coincided in their fundamental moments. The
museums were considered to be repositories of national culture, the
key points of studies that need to be preserved and made accessible to
the masses.

Along with the establishing of new museums, the process of
eliminating those museum institutions, the ideological orientation of
which did not meet the requirements of the time, continued. The
regimental museums of pre-revolutionary Russia, which were created
before the anniversaries of military units and held at the expense of
officers, ceased to exist. Their funds were transferred to the large
military museums, and a certain part of the museum relics were taken
abroad and stored in emigration military-historical museums.

Research analysis. The research works on theoretical understanding
of the military-museum network operation of the 1920s include a
dissertation study of Aleksandrovoy N.V. [2]. However, the work
focuses only on the St. Petersburg and Moscow sections of military-
historical museums.

Among the authors who analyzed in their writings the experience
of the operation of individual military museums are M.Ostozhensky
[3, pp. 375-379], V.Voyennyj [4, p. 38], P. Bikov [5, p. 131],
A.Davydov [6, P. 201-205], V.Arendt [7, pp. 19-24], M.Yakushin [8,
pp. 34-38], K.Vasilenko [9, pp. 77-83], M.Loginova [10, pp. 56-69],
V.Matsulevicha [11, pp. 52-54], and others.

Most works were devoted to the activities of the Central Museum
of the Red Army. This was explained by the fact that at that time the
mentioned museum was unofficially considered to be the main
military museum.

103



It should be noted that the narrowing of the study of the Soviet
military-museum network to the framework for studying the
experience of the activity of individual military museums, did not
encourage publication of historical works on the global scale.
Researchers were limited, as a rule, to individual publications in
periodicals and the writing of guides on museums. And the problem
regarding the study of military-historical museums that functioned at
that time on the territory of Ukraine was not studied at all. Soviet
researchers did not pay attention to this topic.

In general, studies on the history of Ukrainian military-museum
affairs are relatively rare. In our opinion, the reasons for the ignorance
of scientists are, first of all, the specificity of military museums —
departmental institutions of the armed forces, which are somehow
aloof from the cultural and scientific life of the country. However,
there are developments in the fundamental issues of museum studies
that allow us to work on various aspects of the military-museum
affairs of Ukraine.

The above shows that as of today there has been no comprehensive
research work in Ukraine on the study of the operation of military
museums at the stage of the formation of Soviet power in Ukraine.

The purpose of the article is to highlight the historical preconditions
for the creation and operation of military museums at the stage of
Soviet power establishment in Ukraine.

Key Findings. After the fall of the Ukrainian People’s Republic
(UPR), the military and history-related documents, as well as
materials of the age of liberation struggle of 1917-1921 years, were
taken by Ukrainian state patriots to the Allied countries of the
Ukrainian People’”s Republic in the struggle against the Bolshevik
Russia, where they created military-historical institutions.

In July 1921, in the Polish town of Tavrov, the Ukrainian
government in exile established the Main Military Historical Museum
and Archive under the General Staff of the UPR (GVIMA). In the
conditions of emigration, the head of GVIMA, Obidnyy M.Yu., have
lauched museum, archival and memorial activities. After transporting
a part of the emigration collections from Tarnov to Prague, the
Ukrainian National Museum and Archive was founded there under the
Ukrainian Public Committee (UNMA), and in year 1930 — Ukrainian
Historical Office, which assumed the role of protecting military-
historical monuments in emigration.

104



In 1926, in the collection of UNMA there were 31,826 storage
units [12, p.141]. Such well-known Ukrainian activists of the UPR
and Ukrainian Insurgent Army (UIA) as M.Bitynsky, V.Vinnichenko,
E.Vyryovy, M.Galagan, M.Obidny, V.Petrov, S.Rusov, Nikita and
Nikolai Shapovaly participated in collecting activities. In the museum
department, mainly, objects of material culture of the period of the
Ukrainian revolution of 1917-1920 were preserved. These were flags,
uniforms, photographs, badges, stamps, prints, articles of national
emblems [13, p. 10]. In 1930, the UNMA was transferred to a
specially created Ukrainian Historical Office under the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs of Czechoslovakia.

Apart from that, in Prague in 1925, the Museum of the Liberation
Movement of Ukraine (MLMU) was opened, which until 1948
retained unique military-historical monuments and documents of the
liberation struggle for Ukraine's independence. Before World War |1
(1939-1945), more than a million items were kept in the museum's
funds, including documents, books, personal belongings, military
equipment [14, p.12].

Nevertheless, the efforts related to operation of military-historical
museums virtually disappeared on the territory of Ukraine after the
defeat of the liberation struggles, which took place during recurrent
military operations and the establishment of Soviet power. The
existing military-museum network has undergone reformation, and
military museums have focused on displaying all types of class
warfare, and in chronological terms, they have necessarily completed
the expositional narrative with the modern period. This actually led to
the curtailment of scientific research in the field of military history,
the sharp narrowing of fundraising themes, and transformation of
work related to the creation of a material sources base for military-
historical research into the simple collection of artifacts for
exhibitions. Yet, this is further discussed in more detail.

With the breakdown of the old state administration, the liquidation
of the military ministry and the General Staff, the military-museum
network collapsed. The country was torn by a civil war, in the fires of
which military museums were dying. In Sumy city, the 10 dragoons
regiment museum was subjected to repeated violence. In January
1919, a building which used to serve the purposes of a regiment office
was turned into a hospital, which transferred the museum's archive to
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fuel for heating. Of all the regimental relics only few boxes of silver in
the Sumy branch of the State People's Bank were preserved. Most
military museums were closed, and military museums, as a result of
the disbandment of regiments and military educational institutions of
the old army, were liquidated [15, pp. 201-208].

In the 1920s, the military-museum network consisted of 15 military
museums and about 280 museums of military units and military
educational institutions, of which there were three military museums
on the territory of Ukraine (Odessa Regional Military Historical
Museum-Auditorium, Museum of Sevastopol Defense and the
Maritime Museum in Nikolaev) and about 55 regimental museums of
the military units of the Russian Empire that were of Ukrainian
descent.

According to the Order of the People’s Commissar for Military
and Naval Affairs No. 103 dated January 27, 1918, in Petrograd (now
St. Petersburg, the Russian Federation), an organization for the
protection and transfer of exhibits and materials of regimental
museums to public storage was established, commissioned by
Vladimir Guschyk, headed by Vladimir Yefimovich. For the operating
of this organization, the building of the Military History Museum was
allocated. This organization was temporary, but in spring of 1918, it
completed its task, having collected museum property that belonged to
more than 40 regimental museums and institutions in the Peter and
Paul Fortress.

In order to find out what were the conditions for the storage of
military-historical property of regimental museums, as well as the
general level of protection of military-museum funds, Kureteckiy A.A.
(Order No. 13335 dated May 17, 1919), the head of the Museum of
the First Cadet Corps, was tasked to urgently conduct an appropriate
examination. During the examination, it became clear that the
regimental property was mixed with prepared for evacuation materials
for the Artillery Museum. Repeatedly Guschik V.Yu. and members of
the Commission on the arrangement of the Museum of War of 1914-
1918 conducted seizures, who managed to remove 37 boxes; the room
was freely visited by outsiders. According to employees' testimonies,
of the 40 boxes with precious metals, only 34 were delivered to the
destination. No description documents were composed, and those
composed did not match the artifacts.
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At the beginning of 1919, the commissar of regimental museums
Gushchyk V.Yu. faced trial, and in the commission there is a quick
change of leadership — from Commissar Barkhatov A.B. to Tsur-
Millen V.A., who was also arrested in June, 1919 [16, p. 6].

The first museum of the new military organization was the Red
Army Museum under the Political Directorate of the Petrograd
Military District. The museum was founded by political leadership in
February, 1919 with the aim of "preserving for descendants all that is
characteristic of the history, life and activities of the Red Army and
collecting materials on political and educational work in parts of the
county.” The creators of the museum were striving to depict the use of
military equipment in combat conditions, the development and routine
life of modern troops, emphasizing new methods of education and
training [17, pp. 102-110].

In addition to the creation of the Red Army Museum in Moscow,
attempts were made to organize military museums of this new type on
the ground. In 1920, a scheme was developed for the organization of
the Red Army Museum under the political control of the Southwest
Front. In 1923-24, the Military-Historical Department of the Staff of
the Workers 'and Peasants' Red Army (hereinafter — the WPRA)
developed the Regulations on Red Army division museums.

A completely new type of museum was the Odessa regional
military-historical museum-auditorium named after the Commander-
in-Chief S.S.Kameev. He was subordinate to the People’s Commissariat
for Military Affairs. The goals were to promote the “political and
scientific awareness” of the military units of the Red Army;
dissemiantion in the masses of the working people “of awareness and
popularization of military affairs as one of the factors of world
evolution”; carrying out scientific research in the field of military
history and technology. For the implementation of the intended goals
at the museum-auditorium the following were created: a library for all
military affairs areas and the history of the Red Army; a photo
production, restoration and simple analysis laboratory. Cyclical and
episodic lectures, as well as scientific and educational auxiliary
societies and sections. The museum was divided into the following
departments by chronological periods: a) the history of weapons and
equipment on the territory of the local land from the ancient times to
the time of the Cossacks; b) from the era of the Cossacks through
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the Hetman period until the reign of Catherine Il (until the end of the
XVII century); c) military affairs of the XIX century by the end of the
war of 1914-1918; d) the history of the Red Army in all the diversity
of military-revolutionary monuments. Sections on the history of
individual military units of the Red Army were planned. The museum-
auditorium was headed by the Military Scientific Council, which
included commanders of military units located in the Odessa province,
the provincial military commissar, representatives of provincial
military educational institutions, the head of the provincial department
of public education, the head of the provincial department of the Main
Museum Affairs Directorate, and the museum manager. The council
was convened once a month.

The funds for the maintenance of the museum-auditorium were
provided primarily in the form of appropriations from the People’s
Commissariat on military affairs, through voluntary contributions,
paid lectures, conferences, scientific publications, fees for visiting the
museum and exhibitions, photographic reproduction of exhibits. The
publication of a two-week military-political body “New Army” was
planned. The following topics were outlined: “Tactics from the Civil
War Experience”, “The Role of Officers in the Old Army and the
Communist Structure in the Red Army”, “Psychology of the Soldier
of the National and Class Army”. In the years of 1921-1922, the
museum was replenished with a frortifacts from the Regional
Historical and Archaeological Museum, the 1st Art Museum, the
Pedagogical Museum, and include a collection of weapons from the
former Sergievsky Artillery School. Materials were imported from the
Artillery Depot, the former Aviation Plant, the Military Sanitary
Administration, the Hunting Museum, military sections and military
political and educational institutions. The museum opened on
November 7, 1921 in the building of the former Mykolaiv Palace.
During less than two months the museum-auditorium was attended by
860 people. It should be noted that the museum was closed in 1925
[17, p. 125].

The newly-established museums during that period were charac-
terized by a search and study of all types of museum operation — from
the collection of material to types of educational services.

Since the mid-1920s, new trends in the attitude of the state to the
military-museum affairs have been observed. Discussions about the
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fate and ways of socialist society building were intensified, the
struggle with “opposition” increased, bureaucracy elements were
growing in the administration, the administrative-command system
was brought to its ultimate development state. These processes
affected the cultural, scientific life of the country, and in particular —
museums [17, p. 154].

The leadership of the Political Directorate of the Red Army
understood that for the more effective implementation of educational
functions by military museums, it was necessary to begin training of
the personnel of the related profile. In 1920, a decision was made to
organize military and political courses at the political departments of
the districts and political units of the Army. Curricula of these courses
set the duration of training of 4 months, or 100 study days, or 600 academic
hours. It is noteworthy that the subject named *“Excursions and
Museum” was specially foreseen among a number of mandatory
disciplines. In total for the mastering of the subject, the curriculum
allocated 8 hours, of which 3 hours were deveoted to lectures and
5 hours — to conducting excursions or practical classes in museums.
Thus, students of the course acquired theoretical knowledge and
practical skills in museum and exhibition work, which significantly
influenced the effectiveness of the educational process carried out by
military museums.

The restructuring of the army made it necessary to create museums
in military units (regiments, divisions). The rebuilding of the combat
training and personnel training system was carried out. Regimental
museums had to instill the fighting traditions of the new army.

In connection with the beginning of the process of military
museums reestablishment (one of the first such museums of the Soviet
period was opened in 1923 in the 51st Perekop Division in Odessa),
the military and political authorities faced the question of using them
in the process of training the Red Army soldiers. This was due to the
fact that the historical objects of the military (in the Red Army at the
initial stage of their establishment the museums were named
“divisional”) museums were the most accessible for exhibition and
close in content to the commanders and soldiers, which allowed to put
them in the center of work to educate soldiers in a spirit of respect for
the military history of their military units and the best military
traditions.
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The creation of divisional museums in the Red Army was done by
the Editorial Board of the Military Historical Commission of the Staff
of the WPRA, headed by Antonov-Ovsienko Volodymyr Oleksandrovych.

The result of the activity of the Editorial Board of the Military
Historical Commission of the Staff of the WPRA was the publication
in 1923 of the Regulations on the Red Army Divisional Museums.
Among the tasks imposed on divisional museums, was the task of
training personnel [15, pp. 245-248].

Thus, in paragraph 2 of the above-mentioned Provision, which
defined the task of the divisional museums, it was said that the
divisional museums should promote the upbringing of young
generations contributing to their fighting spirit and revolutionary
traditions. Item 6 of the Regulation specified this task, highlighting a
number of directions for its solution. These directions included guided
tours, organization of exhibitions, lectures, popularization of military
knowledge.

In the process of the establishment of military museums as cultural
and educational institutions of the Red Army and the determination of
their educational functions, these began to be consolidated in the
provisions on museums, that is, to acquire legislative value.

On September 24, 1922, the first Regulation on the Museum of the
Red Army and Navy was approved. This was the museum that later
became the main museum of the Soviet military-museum network.

As mentioned above, the first regimental museum of the Red
Army was opened in the 51st Perekop Division (Odesa) in 1923 [18,
p. 109]. In his speech to the fighters of the Division on the occasion of
this event, the commander of the Ukrainian Military District Frunze
M.V. said: “We want the memory of the glorious past to be captured
and, without dying, transferred from generation to generation by the
new composition of the regiments of the division” [15, pp. 255-261].

In 1923, Posokhov Andrii Ivanovych was appointed head of the
military museum. The structure of the museum’s exhibits included:
14 machine guns, of which 4 were German (Colton), 2 — French,
1 — Austrian, 1 — English, 2 — Russian, and 4 — American. 10 machine
guns, of which 3 were English, 5 — French, 2 — German, 1 — Danish;
7 bombers, of which 2 were Russian, 3 - Austrian, 2 — German;
1 mortar; 1 small caliber cannon and 12 bombs for bombers. For the
materials of the famous case “Vesna” it became known that on July 3,
1931, the head of the military-historical museum Posokhov A.l. was
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shot as a member of the military-officer counter-revolutionary
organization. The materials of the case preserved materials regarding
questioning of the head of the military museum, according to which
weapons as exhibits happened to get into the museum in 1929-30s
from the old royal museum and union of hunters, yet, the documents
themselves were not in his possession [19, pgs. 4]. Materials of the
mentioned criminal case No. 67093, FP “Vesna” in relation to
Posokhov A.l. were reviewed by the Prosecutor’s Office of the USSR.
In accordance with Article 1 of the USSR Decree of January 16, 1989
“On additional measures regarding the establishment of justice in
relation to victims of political repression that took place during the
30's and 40's and early 50°’s” Posokhov Andrei lvanovich was
rehabilitated on August 9, 1989 year [20, pgs. 134-135]. Unfortunately,
the further fate of the museum remains unknown.

In connection with the reestablishment of regimental museums in
the army and in the navy the military authorities faced the question of
including them in the military-museum network of the USSR. So, in
1923 the Provision on the divisional museums of the Red Army was
issued, hence the Museum of the Red Army and Navy assumed the
function of scientific and technical managing of all the divisional
museums.

The principle of subordination and reporting of military museums
to the Museum of the Red Army and Navy became fundamental and
was enshrined in the legal documents governing the military museum
network of the USSR [15, pp. 306-311].

An important role in the management of the activity of divisional
museums belonged to the commission under the Presidium of the
Central Executive Committee of the USSR for the protection of
historical monuments of the Civil War and the Red Army, formed on
April 13, 1933. It was a rather authoritative body, in which at various
times well-known state, political, and military figures worked, such as
Y. Hamarin, A. Bubnov, S. Kamenev, M. Bukharin, L. Mehlis,
A. Yenukidze. Guided by the Provision adopted on December 17,
1933, members of the commission took an active part in assisting
local executive committees, commanding military units in the creation
of divisional museums, exhibitions and corners of the Civil War [15,
p. 312].

In 1927-1929, the direction of military museum affairs and
personnel policies on them changed. All these changes were
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inextricably linked with the general change in the social life of the late
1920s, with the gradual increase in the system of emergency
management and search for “enemies”. Characteristically, the People's
Commissar of Education Bubnov A.S. in greetings during the first
Museum Congress, noted that “the actual management of museums,
was in the hands of the class-hostile groups”. Changing the framework
of military museums was associated with an active offensive against
the Trotskyist opposition — the attitude towards the military experts
changed. Changes also occurred in relation to the intelligentsia as a
whole.

The result of the changes of 1927-1929 was the All-Russian
Museum Congress, which took place in Moscow, December 1-6,
1930. The congress approved the concept of the museum as a cultural
and educational institution. Mass educational services was recognized
as a key activity to all other forms of military museums affairs.
Museums were instructed to immediately begin re-exposition based on
“dialectical materialism”. From this moment a new stage in the life of
the museums of the USSR starts. But this is a completely different
study.

Conclusions. The research showed that propaganda of the
monopolized Soviet party ideology, which became the main type of
activity for military historical museums, inevitably led not only to a
one-sided orientation in the realm of procurement of funds, but also to
the removal of material from the museum circulation that contradicted
the established patterns, political dogmas and idealized images of
“leaders”. From time to time, military-museum collections were
thoroughly audited in order to identify materials about the so-called
“enemies of the people”. These were mostly group pictures of
participants in congresses, meetings, rallies, celebrations, where,
among other personalities, there were also images of people enlisted in
the category of “enemies of the people”. In the course of such a
review, military-historical ~materials that were considered
“inappropriate” by authorities were withdrawn from military
museums, were classified as secret, and were deposited in special
archives, while themselves ceased to be accessible to researchers of
military history, while others were simply destroyed.

It should be emphasized that the activities of the military museums
in Ukraine during this period depended entirely on directions from
Moscow and St. Petersburg where the main military museums of the
Red Army were created.
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Mamranip B.B.
POBOTA BIMCHKOBO-ICTOPHYHUX YCTAHOB IIJI YAC BCTAHOB-
JIEHHS PAISTHCBKOI BJIAIU B YKPAIHI

Ha mincraBi mpoBeneHOro MOCTIIKEHHS aBTOPOM PO3KPHUTO YMOBH, B SIKHX
(yHKIIOHYBaM BIifICBKOBO-MY3eifHI ycTaHOBH, IO TmiepeOyBal Ha TepHTOpIl
Vxpainu. IligrBepmkeHo, mo BiiCEKOBO-MYy3eHHa Mepeka € CKIaIO0BOIO JepKaBHOI
My3eHOI Mepexi i BHKOPHCTOBYE B CBOilf poOOTi Ti X TEOpPETHUHI, HAyKOBi Ta
METOIMYHI MiAXOAM B OpraHizamii My3eWHOI IisUIBHOCTI, sKi Oynu BHpoOIeHi B
MacmTabi PajgsHcpkoi PecyOmikm.

JlocmimkeHHSIM JTOBENICHO, IO JKOBTHEBWI OLTBINIOBUIEKHIA TiepeBoporT 1917 poky
CTaB BH3HAYAJIBHNM y pOOOTI BifiCBKOBO-ICTOPHYHMX My3eiB, B TOMYy 4HCIi i Ha
Tepuropii Ykpaiau. [IpwidtnoBmm 10 Biagy, OUTHIIOBHKH OPIEHTYBAaJM BIHCHKOBI
My3el Ha BHXOBAaHHS JIOJWHHM Ha TPHHIMIIOBO HOBHX IIEOJOTIYHUX YCTaHOBKAX.
V gmcni 3aco0iB TOCATHEHHS JaHUX ITiIed BUKOPHCTOBYBAJIH KOJICKIIii, HAKOITMYCHI B
My3esX iIMITepaTopchkoi Pocii.

VYV craTTi po3MIAAAIOTHECS OCOOMMBOCTI opraHi3amii poOOTH BifiCBKOBHX My3eiB
IIOJI0 TTIOKa3y BCiX BUAIB KJIAcoBOi OOPOTEOHM. ABTOPOM IPEICTAaBICHO CTATHUCTHYHI
JIaHi MO0 KUTbKICHUX IMOKa3HHUKIB BiiiCEKOBO-MY3eHHIX YCTaHOB, IO IepeOyBay Ha
Tol Jac Ha TepuTopil YKpaiHu. 3a apXiBHHUMH MaTepianamu Oylno peKOHCTpYHOBaHO
MEBHI TOMIi Ta JOJMi JEpXKaBHUX JisUiB, IO OIMIKYBAJHCS JOJICI0 Ta 30€pEKCHHIM
YKpaiHCHKOI BIHCEKOBO-1CTOPHYHOI CIIaIIIHHH.

JlocnmipkeHHSIM  BCTQHOBJICHO, 10 TBEPAWH 1/ICONOTIYHUN JUKTAT 3 OOKY
MapTiiHOI 1 ep>kaBHOI BIaau cepHo3HO IMO3HAYMBCS HA 3MICTI BCIX HANPsIMiB poOOTH
YKpaTHCHKHUX BIHCHKOBUX MY3€iB y paJsTHCHKHI Mepiof.

Kniouosi cnosa: BIWCHKOBHI My3ed, IONKOBHH My3eH, IWBIIMHMIA My3eH,
My3eiiHa crpasa.
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